FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/1/2022 4:55 PM
No. 100786-8

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/4/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

NAVIN AVERY MILKO,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 55267-1-II
Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
Superior Court Cause Number 18-1-04203-0
The Honorable Philip Sorensen, Judge

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Navin Avery Milko, Defendant and Appellant in the case below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published portion of the opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 55267-1-II, which was filed on March 15, 2022. (Attached in Appendix) The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction entered against Petitioner in the Pierce County Superior Court.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court violate Navin Milko's constitutional right to confront witnesses by allowing two State's witnesses to testify remotely via video conference?
- Was allowing two out-of-state witnesses to testify remotely via video conference necessary to further the valid public policy of ensuring the health and safety of trial participants and the general public

during the COVID-19 pandemic, where their reasons for not appearing in person were based primarily on their own convenience or individual discomfort with traveling, but where all of the other witnesses, including another who traveled from out-of-state, were able to take precautionary measures and safely testify in person?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Navin Avery Milko with twelve crimes related to five incidents at two locations on five different days. (CP 16-25) The charges were as follows:

INCIDENT DATE	LOCATION	VICTIM	RELATED CHARGES	COUNT
10/18/18	5703 128 th St. E	B.P.	Rape 1º Burglary 2º	1 3
10/17/18	5703 128 th St. E	A.Q.	Att. Rape 1º Burglary 2º	2 4
08/26/18	12602 62 nd Ave E	A.B.	Burglary 1° Att. Kidnapping 1° Att. Robbery 1° Felony Harassment	5 6 7 8

08/24/18	12602 62 nd Ave E	C.D.	Att. Rape 1º Att. Robbery 1º Att. Burglary 1º	9 10 11
09/24/18	12602 62 nd Ave E	K.T.	Att. Kidnapping 1°	12

(CP 16-25) The State also alleged that the offenses were aggravated on several grounds: (1) that the offenses were committed shortly after being released from incarceration; (2) that the presumptive sentence is clearly too lenient due to unscored misdemeanor or foreign criminal history; (3) and that the multiple current offenses results in some crimes going unpunished. (CP 16-25)

The jury found Milko not guilty of the attempted robberies charged in counts seven and ten (against A.B. and C.D.), but found Milko guilty of the remaining charges and aggravators. (CP 339-63; 08/03/20 RP 9-13)¹ The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 602 months. (CP 525, 527-28, 566-71; 10/02/20 RP 18-19,

¹ The transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding contained therein.

20) Milko timely appealed. (CP 551) The Court of Appeals affirmed Milko's conviction and sentence.

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

B.P., A.Q., A.B., C.D., and K.T. all work as paid "escorts," otherwise known as prostitutes. (07/15/20 RP 45; 07/16/20 RP 12, 80; 07/20/20 RP 7, 94) They do not walk the streets, but instead advertise their services on personal websites or on websites known as sources for sexual services. (07/15/20 RP 47, 49-50; 07/16/20 RP 15-16, 83-84; 07/20/20 RP 11) The women follow the same general process for arranging "dates" with clients. They communicate through email or text, or occasionally talk on the telephone. (07/15/20 RP 52, 53; 07/16/20 RP18; 07/20/20 RP 12, 96) They arrange a meeting place, and agree to their fee upfront. (07/15/20 RP 56, 58, 61; 07/16/20 RP 20, 90-91; 07/20/20 RP 13) women all have certain acts they will and will not engage in, and do not engage in any sex acts until after they have

received payment from the client. (07/15/20 RP 62-63, 64-65, 67; 07/16/20 RP 21, 23, 90-91; 07/20/20 RP 14, 96-97, 98)

Milko contacted C.D. on the night of August 24, 2018 through her website, and requested a two-hour booking with C.D. and a second woman. (07/15/20 RP 77) C.D. and her friend agreed to meet Milko at an address he provided, 12602 62nd Avenue East in Puyallup. (07/15/20 RP 77, 79, 94; Exh. 125) Milko came outside to meet C.D., and together they went into the house while the second woman finished putting on her makeup in the car. (07/15/20 RP 80-81)

A total lack of furniture inside the house made C.D. suspicious, and she questioned Milko about it. (07/15/20 RP 72, 82-83) According to C.D., Milko pulled out a knife and told her she was getting robbed. (07/15/20 RP 72, 84) C.D. told Milko that she only had \$20.00, and he responded, ""Well, if you're not getting robbed, you are

getting raped." (07/15/20 RP 73) C.D. testified that Milko held the knife to her abdomen, so she began bluffing and blustering in the hope that he would back off and not hurt her. (07/15/20 RP 73-74, 88, 89) C.D.'s tough talk seemed to surprise Milko, and C.D. was able to walk outside and get into her car and drive away. (07/15/20 RP 89)

A few days later, C.D. decided she wanted to "strike vengeance" against Milko, so she and a male friend went back to the house to look for him. (07/15/20 RP 99, 100) C.D. armed herself with a tire iron and her friend armed himself with a machete. (07/15/20 RP 104) They saw Milko walking his dog in the neighborhood. (07/15/20 RP 103) When they confronted Milko, he ran away. (07/15/20 RP 104, 181) The ensuing chase ended with Milko's dog being run over by a passing car and C.D.'s friend being cut by Milko, who was forced to defend himself against C.D.'s machete-wielding friend. (07/15/20

RP 107-08, 122, 183) Milko later told his mother that C.D. and her friend attacked him and tried to steal the dog. (07/23/20 RP 71)

Milko contacted A.B. on the night of August 26, 2018, and asked A.B. to meet him at the 12602 62nd Avenue East residence. (07/16/20 RP 25) Milko greeted A.B. from the porch when she arrived, and he followed A.B. inside. (07/16/20 RP 26) According to A.B., she turned around to talk to Milko, and saw that he was holding a knife. (07/16/20 RP 26) She asked Milko if he was robbing her, and Milko said no and told her to go into the bathroom. (07/16/20 RP 26) A.B. tried to leave but Milko grabbed her and pulled her towards the bathroom. (07/16/20 RP 29-30) The knife cut A.B.'s hand during the struggle, and she bled on the floor of the bathroom. (07/16/20 RP 26, 30; Exh. 142-45) A.B. slipped and fell onto the floor, and Milko released her and told her to "get the fuck out of here before I kill you." (07/16/20 RP 30)

Milko contacted K.T. on the night of September 24, 2018 and she agreed to meet him at the 12602 62nd Avenue East residence. (07/16/20 RP 95, 96) Milko came outside and opened the gate to let her into the property. (98) The property was dark and the house looked empty, so K.T. was apprehensive. (07/16/20 RP 98-99) Milko told K.T. that he was doing construction on the house and lived in the lower level. (07/16/20 RP 99) He told her she could walk along the side of the house to get to the entrance. (07/16/20 RP 100) K.T. suggested that they go to a hotel instead, but Milko insisted that they could go to his level of the house. (07/16/20 RP 99-100)

K.T. testified that she took a step to the side so she could look around the corner of the house to where he was telling her to go. (07/16/20 RP 101) According to K.T., Milko then grabbed her by the arm. (07/16/20 RP 101-02) She could see that he was holding something in his hand and he had a "murderous" look in his eyes.

(07/16/20 RP 102) K.T. screamed and ran away. (07/16/20 RP 102-03)

The house located at 12602 62nd Avenue East is owned by Caleb Booth and his family. (07/22/20 RP 138) The house is used as a rental property, but will sometimes be vacant for several months at a time. (07/22/20 RP 138-39) It was vacant during the summer of 2018. (07/22/20 RP 142-43) Booth did not give anyone permission to be inside his house during that time. (07/22/20 RP 146) Booth would occasionally check on the property, and during these visits he noticed broken windows, found blood in the bathroom, and a woman he assumed was a prostitute stopped by. (07/22/20 RP 143, 152)

Joshua Newton can see the Booth house from his home on 126th Street. (07/22/20 RP 107, 111) He saw Milko enter and exit the Booth property a number of times during the Summer of 2018. (07/22/20 RP 110, 114, 122,

123, 124-25, 126) He also saw "provocatively" dressed women arrive and leave. (07/22/20 RP 118) He assumed the home was being used for drugs and prostitution. He called the police several times, tried to secure the broken gate, and put up signs telling trespassers to keep out, but the activity continued for several months until it abruptly stopped. (07/22/20 RP 109, 119, 120-21, 122-23)

Milko contacted A.Q. on the night of October 17, 2018, and asked her to meet him at a house at 5703 128th Street East in Puyallup. (07/20/20 RP 17, 19, 22) Milko met her outside and told her his residence was in the back of the house. (07/20/20 RP 17) As they walked along the side yard, Milko pushed A.Q. against the fence and drew a knife. (07/20/20 RP 17) A.Q. began to scream, and Milko told her to "shut the fuck up." (07/20/20 RP 18, 24) A.Q. continued to scream, and Milko punched her on her lip and ran away. (07/20/20 RP

18, 56)

Milko contacted B.P. on the night of October 18, 2018 and asked her to meet him at the 5703 128th Street East house. (07/20/20 RP 99, 113) Milko came from behind the house and escorted her to the backyard porch. (07/20/20 RP 99, 113) When B.P. turned to face Milko, she saw that he had a knife. (07/20/20 RP 100) According to B.P., Milko asked her if she wanted to die, then put a knife to her throat and told her to kneel down. (07/20/20 RP 100) B.P. testified that Milko forced her to perform oral sex on him, then he forced her to turn around and he vaginally penetrated her from behind. (07/20/20 RP 100, 102) After Milko was done, he told her to leave. (07/20/20 RP 103-04) B.P. testified they never discussed what acts she would perform, and Milko did not pay her. (07/20/20 RP 104-05)

B.P. went to the hospital and registered nurse Jenny Biddulph conducted her sexual assault examination. (07/21/20 RP 18) Swabs that Biddulph collected during the exam were later tested for DNA and matched to reference samples from B.P. and Milko. (07/21/20 RP 24, 26; 07/28/20 RP 134) Biddulph also testified that B.P. told her that Milko "pulled out a knife and stuck it to my throat and told me to do whatever he said or he was going to kill me, and then he pulled out his wiener and made me get on my knees and suck it. And then he stood me up, turned me around, made me bend over and pulled my pants downward. He raped me." (07/21/20 RP 21)

The house located at 5703 128th Street East belongs to an elderly couple, Marvin and Virginia Keiper. (07/21/20 RP 101-02) They were home on the nights of October 17 and 18, but were neither awakened by nor aware of any incidents occurring on their property. (07/21/20 RP 106, 107) Virginia Keiper did notice that the gate, which they always leave closed to secure their dog,

was open three mornings in a row. (07/21/20 RP 106)
The Keipers had not given anyone permission to enter their yard. (07/21/20 RP 107)

Milko was involved in two similar incidents committed in Florida in 2010. One of the victims, J.A., testified that she worked as an escort or prostitute in Florida. (07/21/20 RP 49) Milko contacted her and they agreed to meet at an address Milko suggested. (07/21/20 RP 49)54, 55) The house was "run down" and in "terrible" shape. (07/21/20 RP 55, 60) After he escorted her inside, Milko held J.A. at knifepoint and forced her to give him oral sex. (07/21/20 RP 55, 57) Then Milko ordered J.A. to turn around and he penetrated her from behind. (07/21/20 RP 60)

Michael Zimmerman is a police officer with the City of Temple Terrace in Florida. (07/29/20 RP 10) He investigated the case involving J.A. (07/29/20 RP 17) Officer Zimmerman also questioned Milko about a similar

incident where C.M., a prostitute, was raped at knifepoint. (07/29/20 RP 23-24, 26) Milko acknowledged committing that crime as well. (07/29/20 RP 30, 35) Milko was convicted of the crime against C.M, served time, and was released from Florida Department of Corrections' custody on August 19, 2018. (07/29/20 RP 48; CP 153, 304)

When Milko was questioned by the investigating detective, he acknowledged that he had arranged dates with the women in order to engage in consensual sex, and that he had used the Booth and Keiper properties for the dates. (07/28/20 RP 21-25)

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

The issues raised by Milko's petition should be addressed by this Court because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the United State's Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The Court of Appeals held that "the trial court did

not err when it allowed the two out-of-state witnesses to testify by video based on necessity for public policy reasons because they both had significant health-related concerns about contracting COVID-19 if forced to travel to Washington by air." (Opinion at 1-2) The Court was incorrect. The admission of J.A.'s and Nurse Biddulph's testimony remotely via internet video conference violated Milko's right to confront witnesses. Because the State cannot demonstrate that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, reversal is required.

A. HEARING ON USE OF REMOTE VIDEO CONFERENCE TESTIMONY

Milko's trial began in June of 2020, as the COVID-19 pandemic was ongoing and Pierce County was still reporting relatively high infection rates. (CP 510, Findings 4 and 5) The State moved the court to permit two out-of-state witnesses, J.A. and SANE nurse Jenny Biddulph, to testify remotely at trial via video conferencing. (CP 180-

90; 07/07/20 RP 7, 9-10) The State asserted that both witnesses were material and necessary to the State's case. (CP 180-81; 07/07/20 7) According to the State, J.A.'s testimony was necessary to help establish Milko's intent or motive during the Washington incidents, and Biddulph's testimony was necessary because she conducted the sexual assault examination of B.P.. (07/07/20 RP 7, 11; 04/23/20 RP 8; CP 180-81)

Both witnesses were reluctant to travel during the pandemic. At a pretrial hearing held to test the quality of their remote video testimony, J.A. explained that she was concerned about traveling to Washington because she had asthma, diabetes and high blood pressure. (07/14/20 RP 4, 23-24) She explained that asthmatics cannot wear masks because it constricts their breathing. (07/14/20 RP 26)

Biddulph explained that she was concerned about traveling and potentially exposing herself and her family

to the virus. (07/14/20 RP 8-9) Biddulph did not have any underlying health issues, but one of her children was less than one year old and did not have a fully developed immune system. (07/14/20 RP 18) She was also concerned that she would be required to quarantine upon return, and her extended family was not available to assist with child care. (07/14/20 RP 10) Biddulph was not working at the time, and her husband was participating in on-line school. (07/14/20 RP 17)

Milko objected to allowing either witness to testify remotely. (07/07/20 RP 81; 07/14/20 RP 34-36; CP 170-74) But the trial court ruled that they could, finding that their concerns were "warranted given the current circumstances involving COVID-19." (07/07/20 RP 75, 80; 07/14/20 RP 37-39; CP 511 (Finding 14), CP 512 (Finding 18)) The court's written conclusions of law state:

1. There is a compelling interest that has been demonstrated that due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there is a need to maintain

appropriate social distancing in the courtroom.

2. This compelling interest has been recognized by the emergency proclamations made by Governor Jay Inslee and the Washington Supreme Court.

. . .

- 4. As a result, there is a compelling interest requiring the court to conduct trial in a manner that will protect the health and safety of the parties, jurors, counsel, court staff, witnesses, and the public.
- 5. This compelling interest in health and safety in the midst of a global pandemic is an important public policy that requires the court to utilize remote testimony to ensure the safety of witnesses.
- 6. The utilization of remote testimony necessarily furthers this important public policy of ensuring the health and safety of the parties, jurors, counsel, court staff, witnesses and the public.
- 7. The utilization of technology to accomplish remote testimony provides clear evidence to the court that the reliability of the testimony is assured.
- 8. The State's motion to authorize remote testimony is granted.

(CP 514-15)

B. The use of remote video conference testimony violated Milko's confrontation rights

While preventing the spread of COVID-19 during this global pandemic is inarguably an important and compelling public policy, allowing J.A. and Biddulph to testify remotely was not necessary to further that policy, and therefore violated Milko's right to confront these witnesses face-to-face.

An accused person has both state and federal constitutional rights to confront witnesses. Washington's Article I, section 22 guarantees an accused "shall have the right... to meet the witnesses against him face to face[.]" Likewise, the Sixth Amendment of the Federal constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." Live testimony is preferred because face-to-face confrontation enhances the

accuracy of fact finding. *State v. Rohrich*, 132 Wn.2d 472, 479, 939 P.2d 697 (1997); *accord Coy v. Iowa*, 487 U.S. 1012, 1019, 108 S. Ct. 2798, 101 L. Ed. 2d 857 (1988). Indeed, witnesses are often judged by the "manner in which they enter the courtroom, their willingness to make eye contact with trial participants, and their ability to control nervous gestures as they deliver their testimony." James W. Kraus, *Virtual Testimony and Its Impact on the Confrontation Clause*, 34 CHAMP 26, 29 (May 2010).

This confrontation requirement may be satisfied absent a physical, face-to-face confrontation only where (1) the "denial of such confrontation is necessary to further an important public policy," and (2) "the reliability of the testimony is otherwise assured." *Maryland v. Craig*, 497 U.S. 836, 850, 110 S. Ct. 3157, 111 L. Ed. 2d 666 (1990); *see also United States v. Carter*, 907 F.3d 1199, 1205-06 (9th Cir. 2018). Before dispensing with the

accused's right, the trial court must engage in a case specific, individualized determination of the necessity for testimony by other means. *Craig*, 497 U.S. at 855-56.²

The first prong of the *Craig* test requires the State to show both (1) the presence of an important public policy, and (2) that remote testimony necessarily furthers the public policy. *State v. Sweidan*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 53, 72, 461 P.3d 378 (2020). While the public policy of preventing the spread of a serious respiratory virus is certainly valid, allowing J.A. and Biddulph to testify remotely was not necessary to further this policy.

In very limited circumstances, prosecution witnesses have been permitted to testify remotely due to severe illness. The *Sweidan* Court noted that "[m]any decisions support the proposition that an illness of the

² This Court reviews constitutional questions, including claims under the confrontation clause, de novo. *State v. Koslowski*, 166 Wn.2d 409, 417, 209 P.3d 479 (2009).

witness suffices to permit a witness to testify by video."

13 Wn. App. 2d at 70 (discussing *Horn v. Quarterman*,

508 F.3d at 313 (5th Cir. 2007); *Harrell v. Butterworth*,

251 F.3d at 931 (11th Cir. 2001), *State v. Sewell*, 595

N.W.2d 207 (Minn. Ct. App. 1999); and *Stevens v. State*,

234 S.W.3d 748 (Tex. App. Fort Worth 2007)). But no

decision was found to date where a court has permitted

virtual testimony based on the prospect that a witness

might become ill in the future.

Nobody would seriously dispute that a witness who was actually suffering from the coronavirus should be permitted to testify remotely. But here, the trial court permitted remote testimony for witnesses that were not sick, but merely risked becoming sick if they provided incourt testimony. And the Court of Appeals agreed, finding that the "risk of contracting a virus that had killed hundreds of thousands of people was sufficient to establish necessity." (Opinion at 13) The Court of

Appeals is incorrect, because mere speculation is insufficient to establish necessity.

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