FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/21/2022 4:59 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100786-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NAVIN AVERY MILKO,

Petitioner.

Appeal from Court of Appeals No. 55267-1-II

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

ANNE EGELER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 20258 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

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

_

⁶ The American Academy of Pediatrics reports that to date, children represent 19% of reported COVID-19 cases in the United States. www.aap.org/en/pages/2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/children-and-covid-19-state-level-data-report (last visited April 8, 2022).

⁷ As the Court of Appeals noted, "it is important to recognize that in July 2020, there still was significant uncertainty as to whether air travel was safe." *Milko*, 2022 WL 780128, at *7.

opinion of the child's healthcare provider that this would put the baby at undue risk. CP 196, 511.

In addition to showing that Biddulph needed to care for her medically compromised child, the State demonstrated that another caregiver could not have cared for Biddulph's children if she quarantined for two weeks after testifying, or if she contracted COVID-19. CP 511; see Sweidan, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 71, 73 (indicating "[n]o reason exists to distinguish between the aching of the witness and the hurting of a witness's close family member" if there is evidence that a substitute caregiver is not available). The record shows that it was necessary for Biddulph to stop working to care for the baby, as well as her other two young children. CP 194. Her husband could not care for the children and baby alone, because he was attending school online. 7/14/20 RP 11. In the event that Biddulph or her husband contracted COVID-19, they did not have friends or family who could care for the children. CP 194. Both of their families were in Spain, and due to international travel restrictions, could not

travel to the United States. *Id.*; CP 511. Having explored all reasonable options and alternatives, the trial court's finding of necessity was supported by sufficient evidence.

Milko suggests that nothing short of physical impossibility is sufficient to support a finding of necessity. There is no case law to support this. To the contrary, "[t]he law rarely, if ever, requires absolute or indispensable necessity in any setting." *Sweidan*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 72 (citing *Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Auth. v. WR-SRI 120th N. LLC*, 191 Wn.2d 223, 245, 422 P.3d 891 (2018). While necessity connotes more than mere convenience, it does *not* require "absolute physical necessity." *Sweidan*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 72.

With respect to J.A., the trial court determined that her preexisting medical conditions—including diabetes, asthma, and hypertension—put her at increased risk of serious complications if she were to contract COVID-19. CP 512. The court found that like Biddulph, J.A. had been exercising strict protocols in her

home to remain safe. *Id*. The court also noted that J.A.'s asthma made it difficult for her to wear a mask. *Id*.

The Centers for Disease Control (CDC) advises people with asthma to wear a mask. But the CDC also warns that "[p]eople with moderate-to-severe or uncontrolled asthma are more likely to be hospitalized from COVID-19" and recommends that they "avoid non-essential travel." In addition, the CDC determined that individuals with diabetes, or hypertension, are more likely to get "severely ill" from COVID-19, requiring "hospitalization, intensive care, a ventilator to help them breathe, or they may even die." According to the CDC, diabetes alone increases the odds of in-hospital mortality by twenty percent. "Comorbid conditions" increase the risk of

⁸ www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/asthma.html#:~:text=People%20with%20moderate-to,steps%20to%20protect%20yourself.

⁹ www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-with-medical-conditions.html

death.¹⁰ Thus, allowing J.A. to testify remotely furthered the important public policy of protecting the medically compromised from serious medical risks, including a significant risk of death.

Despite this, Milko contends that remote testimony was merely a matter of convenience. Pet. at 2, 23. Remote testimony is not permitted "merely to avoid added expense or inconvenience." *United States v. Carter*, 907 F.3d 1199, 1208 (9th Cir. 2018). But as the Ninth Circuit indicated in *Carter*, there are times when "it is truly necessary to forgo physical confrontation at trial due to a witness's medical condition." *Id.* at 1208-09.

In keeping with *Carter* and *Craig*, courts have found that the important public interest in the health of trial participants necessitated that witnesses with serious health concerns testify

 $^{^{10}\} www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/clinical-care/underlying conditions.html$

remotely.¹¹ During the global pandemic, travel is not just an "inconvenience" for compromised individuals. Indeed, the potentially lethal COVID-19 risk posed by travel lead 27 States and the District of Columbia to issue at least one executive order restricting travel during the pandemic.¹²

_

¹¹ See, e.g., Lipsitz v. State, 135 Nev. 131, 442 P.3d 138 (Nev. 2019) (holding out-of-state victim was properly permitted to testify from drug treatment facility); State v. Sewell, 595 N.W.2d 207 (Minn. 2019) (holding remote testimony of out-of-state witness recovering from surgery did not violate the Confrontation Clause); New York v. Wrotten, 14 N.Y.3d 33, 923 N.E.2d 1099 (N.Y. 2009) (rejecting challenge to remote testimony of a senior citizen with coronary disease); Bush v. State, 2008 WY 108, 193 P.3d 203 (Wyo. 2008) (allowing witness with preexisting medical issues to testify remotely); Stevens v. State, 234 S.W.3d 748 (Tex. App. Fort Worth 2007) (upholding remote testimony of 75-year-old witness with medical problems); Horn v. Quarterman, 508 F.3d 306, 320 (5th Cir. 2007) (allowing cancer patient to testify remotely in a murder trial); United States v. Gigante, 166 F.3d 75, 79-82 (2d Cir. 1999) (remote testimony of terminally-ill witness did not violate Confrontation Clause).

¹² "Map of Active Travel Restrictions by State," BallotPedia, www.ballotpedia.org/Travel_restrictions_issued_by_states_in_r esponse_to_the_coronavirus_(COVID-19)_pandemic,_2020-2021#Map_of_active_travel_restrictions_by_state.

In addition to establishing medical necessity, the record reflects that Biddulph and J.A.'s medical risks could not be addressed by continuing the trial date. In *Carter*, for example, the witness's health problem during the seventh month of her pregnancy was a "temporary disability" and the "obvious alternative" was a short trial continuance. *Carter*, 907 F.3d at 1208. Unfortunately, a short continuation would not have resolved the pandemic and at the time of trial there was no way of knowing when a vaccine would be available. ¹³

Milko contends that there are no cases allowing witnesses who "merely risked becoming sick" to testify remotely. Pet. at 22-24. Not so. Two weeks before Milko's petition was filed, Division I of the Court of Appeals held that it was appropriate to allow a child victim and her mother to testify remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic. *State v. D.K.*, ___ P.3d ___, 2022 WL

_

¹³ See CDC Museum Covid Timeline https://www.cdc.gov/museum/timeline/covid19.html (Last visited April 18, 2022).

1074986 (March 14, 2022). As in Milko's case, the witnesses were not sick. *Id.* at *1. The victim had preexisting medical issues that made her immunocompromised. *Id.* Her mother was her primary caretaker and the child's physician declared that if the mother contracted COVID-19 she was almost certain to infect the child. *Id.* The trial court found that neither witness was eligible for a COVID-19 vaccine at the time of trial, and a new variant was becoming more prevalent. *Id.* at *4. Given the individualized findings, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's determination of necessity. *Id.*

As in Washington, other state courts have recognized that when individualized findings demonstrate that there is a necessity to prevent illness, the first prong of the *Craig* test is satisfied. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v*. *Tate*, 969 N.W.2d 378 (2022) (holding that Confrontation Clause rights were not violated by police officer's remote testimony, following findings of particularized necessity to quarantine after exposure to a COVID-19 positive individual); *People v. Hernandez*, 2021 CO

45, 488 P.3d 1055 (Colo. 2020) (holding that two-way videoconference testimony was necessary to further the important public policy of preventing the spread of COVID-19); Clarington v. State, 45 Fla. L. Weekly D2671, 314 So.3d 495 (Fla. 2020); *United States v. Donziger*, No. 11-cv-691, 2020 WL 8465435 (S.D. N.Y., Slip. Op. Oct. 23, 2020) (allowing remote testimony and indicating that "there is no question that limiting the spread of COVID-19 and protecting at-risk individuals from exposure to the virus are critically important public policies"); Commonwealth v. Masa, 1981 CR 0307, 2020 WL 4743019 (Mass. 2020) (remote suppression hearing during the COVID-19 pandemic was necessary to protect the health of all participants); People v. Warner, 2020 WL 8019120 (V.I. Nov. 2020) (allowing healthy 75-year-old woman to testify remotely from Germany to avoid exposure to COVID-19); *United States v. Harris*, 2019 WL 178641 (D. Haw. Jan. 11, 2019) (allowing remote testimony where witnesses' ability to travel to Hawaii was impaired by their children's infirmities and spouse's military deployment). There is no case law holding that only persons who are presently ill may testify remotely. By analogy, child witnesses are permitted to testify when they *may become* traumatized by the defendant's presence. *See Craig*, 497 U.S. at 856.

Milko claims to have found contrary authority, but the cases he cites are distinguishable. For example, in *United States* v. Pangelinan, 2020 WL 5118550 (D. Kansas 2020), the court agreed that video testimony "might be a reasonable resolution" given the expert witnesses' health concerns with travel and "these unprecedented times with the virus." Id. at *4. However, it was not necessary to do so because there were alternatives. *Id.* The witnesses were called to translate telephone calls. The court held that the State could offer the same testimony by using a local translator. Id. But in Milko's trial, there was not a local substitute available who could testify regarding the rape examination performed by Biddulph. And of course, there was not a local substitute to testify for J.A., regarding the rape she suffered in Florida.

Milko similarly omits key aspects of the decision in *United* States v. Casher, 2020 WL 3270541 (D. Mont. Sept. 2020). In Casher, a Montana court denied a request that out-of-state witnesses be allowed to testify remotely due to concerns with the risk of contracting COVID-19. One of the witnesses had underlying health conditions that created a higher risk of complications from COVID-19. *Id.* at *1. But in stark contrast to the rising infection and death rates in Washington, the court found that "Montana has the lowest per-capita rate of infections in the United States, other than Hawaii." *Id.* at *3. As a result, there was a "favorable window of opportunity" to proceed to trial. *Id.* (internal citation omitted).

In sum, courts in Washington and nationwide have recognized that remote testimony during the COVID-19 pandemic has been necessary, when it was supported by findings regarding the medical needs of the witness and the risk presented by the pandemic at that location and date. The first factor under *Craig* was satisfied by the court's examination of the specific

health risks travel posed to Biddulph and J.A., and determination that allowing them to testify remotely would further the important public policy of protecting health and safety during a global pandemic. The decision comports with state and federal case law, as well as this Court's recognition of the significant health risk COVID-19 posed in the summer of 2020.

2. An individualized determination was made to ensure the reliability of each witness's testimony

The trial court ensured that the second prong of the *Craig* test was satisfied by demanding use of a high-quality platform that enabled the Court, the defendant, witnesses, and counsel to see, hear, and speak to each other. *Craig* holds that "the Confrontation Clause does not prohibit use of a procedure that, despite the absence of face-to-face confrontation, ensures the reliability of the evidence by subjecting it to rigorous adversarial testing and thereby preserves the essence of effective confrontation." *Craig*, 497 U.S. at 857. Milko did not appeal the trial court's findings and conclusions regarding the reliability of the video testimony.

As in *Craig*, the remote witnesses in Milko's trial were under oath, the defense conducted live cross-examination, and the defendant and jurors could observe the witnesses' demeanor. The remote testimony was projected onto two large screens, showing the witnesses "from the elbows up." 7/21/20 RP 8. The court determined that the image allowed the jury to "mak[e] credibility assessments based on body language, movements," and other nonverbal cues. *Id.*; CP 513-14. As courts have recognized, "with today's video conferencing technology, a virtual hearing can approximate a live physical hearing in ways that it could not previously." *Vazquez Diaz v. Commonwealth*, 487 Ma. 336, 341-43, 167 N.E.3d 822, 831-32 (Mass. 2021).

At trial, defense counsel indicated on the record that "there was no break in audio" and it was possible to see the witness "the entire time." 7/21/20 RP 11 at 45. Thus, the remote testimony satisfied the second *Craig* factor as well, by assuring the reliability of the testimony.

B. Given the Overwhelming Evidence, a Confrontation Clause Error Would Have Been Harmless

Even if Milko's confrontation rights had been violated—and they were not—his claim would fail. Violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Lui*, 179 Wn.2d 457, 495, 315 P.3d 493 (2014). Any constitutional error would have been harmless because the "overwhelming untainted evidence" necessarily would have led the jury to a finding of guilt on all charges. *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d at 495. Because any error in allowing the remote testimony was harmless, violation of Milko's rights under the Confrontation Clause would not require a new trial. *Sweidan*, 13 Wn. App. at 78.

Milko's scant claims as to each witness fall flat. First, the State did not require Biddulph's testimony to bolster B.P.'s credibility. B.P.'s credibility was supported in a myriad of ways, including testimony from the woman who drove a traumatized B.P. to the hospital and from the officer who collected B.P.'s

rape kit and clothing from the hospital and admitted it into evidence. 7/20/20 RP 143-44; 7/21/20 RP 90.

Biddulph's testimony offered information about the rape examination and collection of DNA. If she had not testified, the jury would still have heard from forensic scientist Jennifer Hayden, who testified that she performed the DNA analysis and the sample from B.P.'s rape kit matched Milko's DNA. *Id.* at 134. The State built a rock-solid case by presenting layers of testimony and DNA evidence. Given this overwhelming evidence, if allowing Biddulph's remote testimony was improper, the error was harmless.

The same is true of the testimony of the second remote witness, J.A. Even if her remote testimony is determined to be improper, the error was harmless given the overwhelming untainted evidence of intent, based on markedly similar criminal behavior in Florida. The jury heard the testimony of Temple Terrace police officer Michael Zimmerman, who investigated the rapes Milko committed in Florida. He testified that on

different days, Milko contacted women to meet him at a house, took each woman behind the house, and raped her. 7/29/20 RP 9. *Id.* at 29, 33, 35-36, 37. One of these women was J.A. Officer Zimmerman also testified that Milko made a statement admitting that he forced two women to have sex with him at knifepoint. *Id.* at 37. Thus, the officer provided a more complete picture of Milko's criminal actions in Florida.

Given the overwhelming, untainted evidence presented to the jury regarding the DNA evidence supporting the rape charge, and the testimony of the Florida police officer showing a near identical pattern of raping sex workers at knifepoint, any error in admitting the remote testimony was harmless.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests that the Court deny the petition for review. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4. The decision to allow limited remote testimony for two medically compromised witnesses complies with long settled case law allowing remote testimony when it is necessary and sufficiently

reliable. In addition, any error in this case would have been harmless, given the overwhelming, unchallenged evidence.

This document contains 4,956 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.